

## **EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**

**P.S.C. MO. No.** 1 **2nd** **Revised Sheet No.** 149

**Canceling P.S.C. MO. No.** 1 **1st** **Revised** **Sheet No.** 149

For Missouri Retail Service Area

LARGE POWER SERVICE  
ELECTRIC

**Deleted:** KCP&L GREATER MISSOURI OPERATIONS COMPANY¶

**Deleted:** 1

**Deleted:** st

**Deleted:** Original

### **AVAILABILITY:**

This schedule is available for all general service use, such as combined lighting and power service to any customer who shall contract for a minimum capacity of five-hundred (500) kilowatts (kW) for a period of twelve consecutive months.

Customers on this schedule, who increase their load through a single expansion that is reasonably expected to reach or exceed seventy-five thousand (75,000) kilowatts shall not be allowed to receive service for such expansion under this schedule and will be required to receive service under Schedule LLPS or other applicable rate schedule for such expansion. Should Customers on this Schedule reach or exceed seventy-five thousand (75,000) kilowatts through one or more expansions, each less than seventy-five thousand (75,000) kilowatts, the Company shall examine the collective nature and purpose of these expansions and may require the customer to receive service under Schedule LLPS or other applicable rate schedule.

Service is available under this schedule to the following types of customers based on voltage level:

**Deleted:** ¶

Secondary voltage customer - Receives service on the low side of the line transformer.

Primary voltage customer - Receives service at Primary Voltage of 2,400 volts or over but not exceeding 69,000 volts. Normally, the customer will own all equipment necessary for transformation including the line transformer.

Substation voltage customer - Service is taken directly out of a distribution substation at primary voltage. Normally, the customer will own the feeder circuits out of this substation.

Transmission voltage customer - The customer owns, leases, or otherwise bears financial responsibility for the distribution substation. Normally, service is taken off of the Company's transmission system.

This rate is not available for standby, breakdown, supplementary, maintenance or resale service except as noted below.

The restriction against "submetering" and reselling" found in the Company's Rules and Regulations 3.02 (A) and (B) shall not apply where a vacated single tenant premise to which the Company provided service through a single meter for a minimum of five contiguous years has been repurposed as a multi-tenant premise that provides an economic benefit to the immediate area by creating or retaining jobs and avoiding or alleviating economic blight in the immediate area.

Charges to the tenants for electric utility service with respect to any given period shall not exceed the amount of the Company's billing to the customer for that period.

Tenants of such repurposed premise are not customers of the Company and as such are not subject to the Company's tariff. The landlord/property manager shall retain a copy of all individual tenant billings for a period of five years and provide such billing information within ten (10) days to the Company and/or the Missouri Public Service Commission upon request.

### **CHARACTER OF SERVICE:**

Single-phase, 60 Hertz, nominally 120/240 volt firm electric service, provided from the Company's secondary distribution system. Three-phase secondary service shall be available where three-phase facilities are available without additional construction or may be made available at additional charge at voltages not exceeding 480 volts. Three-phase primary distribution service shall be available where primary distribution facilities are available without additional construction or may be made available at additional charge at 2,400, 12,470, or 24,900 nominal volts. Primary service may be served from Company's 69,000 volt or 34,500 volt systems, at Company's option, through Company owned transformation. The customer may request contractual service from the 69,000 volt or 34,500 volt systems, if such systems are available at the customer's point of delivery without additional construction, and the customer provides transformer.▼

**Formatted:** Tab stops: 0.5", Left

**Deleted:** ¶

**Deleted:** November 6, 2018

**Deleted:** December 13, 2025

Issued: February 5, 2026

Effective: March 9, 2026

Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**P.S.C. MO. No. 1 1st Revised Sheet No. 157**Deleted:** OriginalCanceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 Original Sheet No. 157**Deleted:** Revised

For Missouri Retail Service Area

**SPECIAL RATE FOR INCREMENTAL LOAD SERVICE (FROZEN)**  
Schedule SIL**PURPOSE**

This rate schedule is designed to provide certain Customers with new or incremental increases in load, access to a special rate that is not based on the Company's cost of service like generally available tariff rates but is designed to recover no less than the incremental costs of serving the new load. The Customer load will be served primarily by renewable energy resources separate from energy resources used to serve general customers of the Company.

**AVAILABILITY**

This schedule is not available for service to new customers or new loads after December 12, 2025.

This special rate is available to customers with new, incremental load who:

- Have a facility whose primary industry is the smelting of aluminum and primary metals, (Standard Industrial Classification Code 3334) or
- Have a facility whose primary industry is the production or fabrication of steel (North American Industrial Classification System 331110) or
- Operate a facility with an increase in load equal to or in excess of a monthly demand of fifty megawatts

Each customer must demonstrate the new, incremental load can:

- Show a competitive need, documenting the facility would not commence operations absent the special rate,
- Show the special rate is in the interest of the state of Missouri when considering the interests of the customers of the Company, considering the incremental cost of serving the facility to receive the special rate, and the interests of the citizens of the state generally in promoting economic development, improving the tax base, providing employment opportunities in the state, and promoting such other benefits to the state as the commission may determine are created by approval of the special rate

This rate is not available for standby, breakdown, supplementary, maintenance or resale service except as noted below. Sub-metering or the reselling of electricity is prohibited.

Availability of service under this tariff may be limited by the Company due to constraints with, or protection for, Company generation resources or the transmission grid.

Service under this tariff may not be combined with service under an Economic Development Rider, an Economic Redevelopment Rider, the Renewable Energy Rider, Community Solar program, service as a Special Contract, or be eligible for participation in programs offered pursuant to the Missouri Energy Efficiency Investment Act, or for participation in programs related to demand response or off-peak discounts, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission when approving a contract for service under this tariff.

Service under this tariff shall be excluded from projected energy calculations used to establish charges under Riders FAC and RESRAM, and programs offered pursuant to the Missouri Energy Efficiency Investment Act, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission when approving a contract for service under this tariff.

**Deleted:** Service under this tariff shall be excluded from projected energy calculations used to establish charges under Riders FAC and RESRAM, and programs offered pursuant to the Missouri Energy Efficiency Investment Act, unless otherwise ordered by the Commission when approving a contract for service under this tariff.

**Deleted:** November 27, 2019

**Deleted:** December 13, 2025

Issued: February 5, 2026

Effective: March 9, 2026

Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**P.S.C. MO. No. 1 1st Revised Sheet No. 157.1**Deleted:** OriginalCanceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 Original Sheet No. 157.1**Deleted:** Revised

For Missouri Retail Service Area

**SPECIAL RATE FOR INCREMENTAL LOAD SERVICE (FROZEN)**  
Schedule SIL**TERMS & CONDITIONS**

Service under this rate schedule requires a written contract between the Company and the Customer. Each Special Incremental Load Rate Contract shall collect at least the incremental cost incurred by the Company to serve the Customer. Incremental costs shall be calculated, and profitability must be demonstrated at the time the contract is approved to confirm that revenues to be received from Customers under this Schedule are expected to be sufficient to cover the Company's increased costs to offer service pursuant to each Special Incremental Load Rate Contract. All charges for service under this rate schedule shall be limited to the charges contained in the contract between the Company and the Customer.

**CONTRACT DOCUMENTATION**

At least 60 days prior to the effective date of the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract, the Company will file the individual Special Incremental Load Rate Contract and supporting documentation with the Commission for approval. The supporting documentation will include the following items:

1. Customer Needs: Company shall provide a narrative description of the reasons why the Special Incremental Load Rate is necessary for this Customer.
2. Customer Alternatives: Company shall describe competitive alternatives available to the Customer.
3. Incremental Costs: Company shall quantify the expected incremental cost associated with the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract Customer.
4. Profitability: Company shall quantify the expected profitability of the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract as the difference between the revenues expected to be generated from the pricing provisions in the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract compared to Company's expected incremental costs. All significant assumptions shall be identified that affect this quantification.
5. Other Ratepayer Benefits: Company shall quantify the benefits that it believes will accrue to other ratepayers from the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract. All significant assumptions shall be identified that affect this quantification.
6. Other Economic Benefits to the Area: the Company and/or local economic development agency shall quantify the economic benefits to the state, metropolitan area, and/or local area that Company projects to be realized as a result of the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract. The Company will also file an affidavit from the state, metropolitan area and/or local area economic development agency that is also providing benefits to the customer.

**Deleted:** November 27, 2019**Deleted:** December 13, 2025Issued: February 5, 2026Effective: March 9, 2026Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**P.S.C. MO. No. 1 1st Revised Sheet No. 157.2**Deleted:** OriginalCanceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 Original Sheet No. \_\_\_\_\_**Deleted:** Revised

For Missouri Retail Service Area

**SPECIAL RATE FOR INCREMENTAL LOAD SERVICE (FROZEN)**  
Schedule SIL**TERM**

The initial term may vary for each customer served under this rate schedule but in no instance, should the term be greater than ten (10) years. Prior to the end of the term, the Company and Customer will work together to evaluate an extension of the term and if mutually appropriate, work together to secure any required approvals for an extension of the term. Each subsequent extension shall not exceed an additional ten (10) years.

**SPECIAL RATE, PROVISIONS, AND TERMS**

1. The Special Incremental Load Rate will be determined for each Customer based on expected loads and the renewable energy resource planned to serve the Customer. Details about the rate including all terms and conditions related to the Special Incremental Load Rate will be documented through a Special Incremental Load Rate Contract.
2. The Special Incremental Load Rate will be designed to recover no less than the incremental cost to serve the Customer over the term of the Special Incremental Load Rate Contract. Non-participating customers shall be held harmless from any deficit in revenues provided by any customer served under this tariff.
3. All Special Incremental Load Rate Contracts executed under this tariff will include the following provisions:
  - a. Special Rate – details about the structure and rate to be paid by the Customer.
  - b. Agreement Term – clear identification of the dates associated with the Special Rate, particularly the start date for contract term.
  - c. Confidentiality – terms to establish protections needed to protect data under competitive conditions.
  - d. Operational Parameters – details about the expected operation of the facility to be served.
4. The Company will make provisions to uniquely identify the costs and revenues for each respective Special Incremental Load Rate Contract within its books and records. This information will be available to support periodic reporting as ordered by the Commission. At the time of a general rate proceeding the portion of the Company's revenue requirement associated with the incremental costs net of PPA net revenues to serve the Customer shall be assigned to the Customer. The Customer's rate revenues shall be reflected in Company's net revenue requirement. If the Customer's rate revenues do not exceed the incremental cost to serve the Customer as reflected in the revenue requirement calculation, the Company shall make an additional revenue adjustment covering the shortfall to the revenue requirement calculation through the true-up period, to ensure that non-Schedule SIL customers will be held harmless from such effects from the service under Schedule SIL. In no event shall any revenue deficiency (that is, a greater amount of the Customer's incremental costs compared to the Customer's revenues) be reflected in the Company's cost of service in each general rate proceeding for the duration of service to the Customer(s) during the terms of the contract between Company and Customer served under this tariff.

**REGULATIONS**

Subject to Rules and Regulations filed with the State Regulatory Commission.

**Deleted:** November 27, 2019**Deleted:** December 13, 2025Issued: February 5, 2026Effective: March 9, 2026Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**P.S.C. MO. No. 1 1st Revised Sheet No. 157.3**Deleted:** OriginalCanceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 Original Sheet No. 157.3**Deleted:** Revised

For Missouri Retail Service Area

SPECIAL RATE FOR INCREMENTAL LOAD SERVICE (FROZEN)  
Schedule SIL**SPECIAL INCREMENTAL LOAD RATE CONTRACTS**

Start Date of Special Incremental Load Rate Contract	Name of Customer	Address	Term of Special Incremental Rate
January 1, 2020	Nucor Steel Sedalia, LLC	500 Rebar Rd, Sedalia, MO	10 years

**Deleted:** November 27, 2019**Deleted:** December 13, 2025Issued: February 5, 2026Effective: March 9, 2026Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**

P.S.C. MO. No. 1 2nd Revised Sheet No. R-21

Canceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 1st Revised Sheet No. R-21

**Deleted:** KCP&L GREATER MISSOURI OPERATIONS COMPANY¶

**Deleted:** 1st

**Deleted:** Original

For Missouri Retail Service Area

**RULES AND REGULATIONS  
ELECTRIC**

**2.09 RETURNED PAYMENT**

If a customer tenders to Company a check, draft, or a payment order in payment for service billed which is ultimately dishonored for reasons other than bank error, the customer shall be assessed a Returned Payment Charge per Section 12 of these Rules.

**2.10 SERVICE TO LOADS GREATER THAN 25MW**

A. Customers, or prospective Customers seeking service for loads expected to be greater than 25 megawatts (MW) shall be subject to an initial evaluation and study by the Company prior to receiving service. Such Customers shall notify the Company, in advance, concerning the expected load, project location, and project schedule. The Company will respond with an initial evaluation detailing its conditions of service.

B. Customers choosing to move forward and seek service for a project shall complete and comply with terms set forth in a Letter of Agreement and submit a refundable deposit of \$200,000 that will be used to offset costs associated with project planning. Should costs exceed this deposit an additional refundable deposit of \$200,000 shall be required. Additional refundable deposits will be required such that the Customer pays all project planning costs associated with their project. Initial deposit funds not used during planning shall be refunded to the customer without interest. These Customers shall be placed in a queue based on the date on which they provided the required information and deposit.

a. Service related to projects the Company designates as serving the community interest may be given priority in the queue and may not be required to submit a deposit. Community interest projects are those that are part of a competitive search in which the Company is competing against at least one other location for the project, the Customer reasonably demonstrates that the project will employ at least 250 permanent, full-time employees, and an accredited state or regional economic development organization certifies that the absence of a deposit and expedited timing are critical to the state winning the project.

b. The Company shall have sole discretion on the deposit applicability and managing projects in the queue.

C. The Company will work on advanced study and scoping for up to four (4) projects at a time. Customers with projects being studied shall be notified of the study results and plans to receive service. Once an Initial Projects Agreement is complete, the Company will send necessary details to the Southwest Power Pool ("SPP") for its review. Completed plans shall be valid for six months.

D. Customers choosing to receive service according to these plans shall complete the required agreements to facilitate construction and all required Service Agreements to receive service. The Schedule LLPS tariff and associated Service Agreement contain additional requirements for qualifying projects that must be met to receive service. Customers failing to complete these agreements within the timeframe allowed may be returned to the queue.

E. Additional details regarding the queue process and submission shall be posted to and updated from time to time on the Company's website.

**Deleted:** November 8, 2016

**Deleted:** December 13, 2025

Issued: February 5, 2026

Effective: March 9, 2026

Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105

**EVERGY MISSOURI WEST, INC. d/b/a EVERGY MISSOURI WEST**

P.S.C. MO. No. 1 3rd Revised Sheet No. R-54

Canceling P.S.C. MO. No. 1 2nd Revised Sheet No. R-54

For Missouri Retail Service Area

**RULES AND REGULATIONS  
ELECTRIC**

**Deleted: KCP&L GREATER MISSOURI OPERATIONS COMPANY¶**

**Deleted: 2nd**

**Deleted: 1st**

**7.11 SUMMARY OF POLICY ADMINISTRATION (continued)**

**C. Residential Multi-Family or Residential Mobile Home Trailer Parks**

All applicants, classified as permanent service, will have a Construction Allowance calculated per the feasibility model (Section 7.02 C. Construction Allowance) for the customized project. The Construction Allowance is subtracted from the Estimated Construction Cost for the Applicant's project in order to determine the Nonrefundable Construction Charge to be paid by Applicant. Applicant will also be responsible for all Estimated Construction Charges related to the cost of connecting to Company's existing and adequate distribution facilities when the length is greater than 100 feet. Applicant will pay these costs to Company as a Nonrefundable Construction Charge.

**D. Commercial or Industrial**

All applicants, classified as permanent service, will have a Construction Allowance calculated per the feasibility model (Section 7.02 C. Construction Allowance) for the customized project. The Construction Allowance is subtracted from the Estimated Construction Cost for the Applicant's project in order to determine the Nonrefundable Construction Charge to be paid by Applicant. The cost of the Distribution Extension on public right-of-way is generally included in the Estimated Construction Cost except where the Applicant requires an extension other than a standard overhead extension. Where underground service on public right-of-way is required and agreed to by Company, the Applicant will be required to pay for the required facilities as either a Nonrefundable Construction Charge or as a surcharge on its monthly bill, at Company's discretion.

**E. Transmission or Substation Facilities Extensions**

For extensions of transmission or substation facilities, any Customer requesting service with substation or transmission facilities shall pay all costs associated with such extensions. These costs do not include any resulting Network Upgrade costs for facilities classified as transmission under the Southwest Power Pool Open Access Transmission Tariff. Customers requesting service through substation or transmission facilities must complete payment for the extension or make suitable arrangements for installment payments, execute all required agreements associated with the requested extensions, and execute any Service Agreements required by the applicable rate schedule as a condition for any construction to commence.

**Deleted: (**

**Deleted: )**

**Formatted: Font: Bold**

**Deleted: November 8, 2016**

**Deleted: December 13, 2025**

Issued: February 5, 2026

Effective: March 9, 2026

Issued by: Darrin R. Ives, Senior Vice President

1200 Main, Kansas City, MO 64105